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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Let me first

          3  apologize for the meeting starting late. The Health

          4  Committee had a meeting which ran over and Christine

          5  Quinn, the Chair, respectfully requested the two

          6  last witnesses be able to testify, which they did.

          7                 Before we get into the testimony by

          8  the Department of Parks and Recreation and others,

          9  we are going to have testimony dealing with the name

         10  changing of streets that we have actually 94 today,

         11  42 of which are victims of the World Trade Center

         12  tragedy, and 52 others. So, let's begin. I think

         13  that there is a lot of talk about whether street

         14  name changes is a good thing or a bad thing. I think

         15  it's important for years to come when people look

         16  and they see a street name that they understand why

         17  it's there.

         18                 So, I'm very happy to begin this.

         19  We'll have testifying right now William Chilson from

         20  FDNY, and Susan Petito, correct? Assistant

         21  Commissioner. Thank you.

         22                 MR. CHILSON: Good afternoon,

         23  Chairperson Foster, and the Council Members. My name

         24  is Chief William Chilson, and I'm here representing

         25  the Manhattan Borough Command of the New York City

                                                            5

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  Fire Department.

          3                 Thank you for allowing me the

          4  opportunity to testify in support of the proposed

          5  local law renaming several City streets for former

          6  New York City firefighters and other Department

          7  personnel.

          8                 The past two years have been the most

          9  difficult time the Department and the City have ever

         10  faced. While we have been rebuilding and recovering

         11  from the awful events of September 11th, we have

         12  done so with the memories of our fallen brothers

         13  always in our mind.

         14                 The heroic sacrifice they made during

         15  the course of saving others steal our resolve as we

         16  move forward.

         17                 We believe the renaming of City

         18  streets is appropriate, tangible and a special way

         19  to honor our fallen brothers and heroes. These men,

         20  after all, drove those streets every day to save

         21  lives and property of others. For these reasons, the

         22  Department commends the support and supports the

         23  renaming of City streets in honor of those who made

         24  the supreme sacrifice on September 11th, 2001.

         25                 Thanks again for the opportunity to
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          2  testify in regard to this very appropriate local law

          3  and for recognizing the heroic actions of our fallen

          4  firefighters in this way.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: Good

          6  afternoon, Madam Chair, members of the City Council.

          7  I'm Assistant Commissioner Susan Petito of the New

          8  York City Police Department, Office of the Deputy

          9  Commissioner of Legal Matters, and I'm honored to be

         10  here today on behalf of the New York City Police

         11  Department to express our support and gratitude for

         12  the bill before you.

         13                 The bill celebrates many precious

         14  lives, including heroic members of the New York City

         15  Police and Fire Department. This City lost so many

         16  extraordinary individuals on September 11th, that it

         17  is still difficult to comprehend the depth of our

         18  loss.

         19                 Although we have met before to honor

         20  the heroes of September 11th in this way, each story

         21  is unique and deserves its special place in our

         22  memories and hearts.

         23                 Today's bill honors four police

         24  officers who lost their lives in the World Trade

         25  Center attack. Sergeant Rodney Gillis and Police
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          2  Officers James Leahy, Santos Valentin, Jr., and

          3  Walter Weaver. This bill also honors three police

          4  officers who lost their lives while heroically

          5  carrying out their police duties in other ways.

          6                 Police Officer Matthew Dziergowski,

          7  who was killed by a speeding vehicle while diverting

          8  traffic from the scene of an accident; Detective Joe

          9  Galapo, who was shot while making a drug arrest; and

         10  Detective James Nemorin, who was executed during an

         11  undercover gun buy.

         12                 Additionally, the bill celebrates the

         13  life of a young detective, Detective Frank Collins,

         14  whose bright future in the Department was ended in a

         15  fatal motorcycle accident.

         16                 It is important to remember that

         17  while we continue to grieve for the heroes we lost

         18  on September 11th, we also grieve and remember all

         19  of the members of the Police Department family whom

         20  we've lost who have dedicated their lives to law

         21  enforcement.

         22                 I would like to thank you for

         23  allowing me to speak in support of this bill, to

         24  express both our heavy sadness and our deep pride in

         25  the men and women who willingly serve the people of
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          2  our City at the risk of their own lives. Thank you

          3  for remembering them with this touching tribute.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          6  much, to both of you. You're absolutely right, that

          7  we lost many in the line of duty on September 11th,

          8  but we also lost them before and after and it's a

          9  fitting tribute to name a street and it means a lot

         10  to a family.

         11                 I know that in my own community

         12  families have come up to me years, years, you know,

         13  when my father was in this position, had reminded

         14  me, you know, thank you for changing the street

         15  name. So, it does mean a lot. And we're very

         16  thankful and we'll never forget what the brave men

         17  and women did on 9/11, the firefighters. So, thank

         18  you very much.

         19                 We're next going to hear from Joel

         20  Kaplan.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 MR. KAPLAN: Thank you, Madam Chair.

         23  My name is Joel Kaplan, and I have the privilege of

         24  serving as the Executive Director of United Jewish

         25  Council of the East Side.
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          2                 I'm here today in support of the

          3  co-naming of Cherry Street, between FDR Drive and

          4  Jackson Street, in memory of firefighter Robert

          5  Foti, who lost his life responding to the World

          6  Trade Center attack.

          7                 Co-naming has the unanimous backing

          8  of Community Board 3, and an active sponsorship of

          9  Council Member Gerson and full support of Council

         10  Member Margarita Lopez.

         11                 I wanted to take this opportunity to

         12  thank them and their staff.

         13                 While two and one half years have

         14  passed since that fateful and tragic day, September

         15  11th, 2001, some wounds will never be healed. The

         16  Lower East Side community, separated only by the

         17  Chinatown Community from Lower Manhattan, witnessed

         18  the World Trade Center tragedy unfolding in front of

         19  their eyes.

         20                 Many of those fleeing from Lower

         21  Manhattan north to the Lower East Side were treated

         22  by Lower East Side social service agencies, such as

         23  ours. But the personal tragedy of a loss of a loved

         24  one will never be fully healed.

         25                 Some biographic facts about
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          2  Firefighter Robert Joseph Foti: Robert Joseph Foti

          3  was born on August 19th, 1959. Soon after his birth,

          4  his parents moved back to the newly built East River

          5  Housing Complex, located on the FDR and Grant

          6  Street.

          7                 Robert attended PS 110, LeSalle High

          8  School and Pace University. Robert Joseph Foti

          9  served as a New York City firefighter for 13 years,

         10  most recently with Ladder 7, Engine 16. On September

         11  11th, 2001, responding to the World Trade Center

         12  attack, Robert Foti was killed in the line of duty.

         13                 But responding to the World Trade

         14  Center attack was not the only heroic event in

         15  Firefighter Foti's life. While he was a camp

         16  counselor, he jumped into the lake to save a

         17  drowning boy. As a father relaxing at the Jersey

         18  Shore, he saved many people from the riptides in the

         19  ocean. He even saved a bus full of children on Grant

         20  Street when their bus caught on fire. And as a

         21  firefighter, he jumped into the East River to save a

         22  man who was drowning.

         23                 The rationale for co-naming Cherry

         24  Street from FDR Drive to Jackson Street, which is

         25  just one block, is that Robert was born and raised
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          2  at 455 FDR Drive, which is the building on the

          3  corner of FDR Drive and Cherry Street.

          4                 His children, Alicia and Robert, live

          5  in the building across the street, 473 FDR Drive,

          6  and he walked his dog "Rescue" every day on Cherry

          7  Street.

          8                 I thought it was important to

          9  personalize the information, the biography of Robert

         10  Joseph Foti. Members of the Foti family who have

         11  spearheaded the co-naming unfortunately are unable

         12  to be here today. They're in Florida tending to

         13  their Grandma May, who broke her hip. Otherwise, of

         14  course, they would have been here this afternoon.

         15  And it is a small token of our debt to Firefighter

         16  Robert Joseph Foti to co-name the street so dear to

         17  him and his family in his memory.

         18                 Thank you very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         20                 We're going to take the vote. Before

         21  I do that, let me introduce my colleagues.

         22                 You can leave. Thank you.

         23                 MR. KAPLAN: Okay.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: From right to

         25  left we have Erik Martin Dilan from Brooklyn. We
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          2  have Frank Neely, who is staff of the Committee; Tom

          3  Curry, staff of the Committee; Chima. I can't get

          4  his last name, but Chima knows. Chima. Gale Brewer;

          5  Jose Serrano; Joe Addabbo, who just gave us our

          6  newest addition to the Parks Department. On Sunday,

          7  the 4th, Joe's wife had a little girl. Mother and

          8  daughter are doing fine.

          9                 We're ready for the vote when you

         10  are.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Foster.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Aye on all.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: Addabbo.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Aye on all.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: Brewer.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Aye on all.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: Dilan.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Aye on all.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Serrano.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SERRANO: Aye on all.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of five in

         22  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         23  abstentions, the item is adopted. Council Members,

         24  please sign the Committee report.

         25                 The roll will be held open by request

                                                            13

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  of the Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          4                 Now we will hear from, I believe it's

          5  Pam Elam. Pam. And Coline Jenkins.

          6                 MS. ELAM: My name is Pam Elam, and

          7  I'm pleased to be here today to urge the Parks

          8  Committee to support the creation of Susan B.

          9  Anthony and Elizabeth Cady Stanton Corner. From 1868

         10  to 1869, Susan B. Anthony and Elizabeth Cady Stanton

         11  published their women's rights newspaper, The

         12  Revolution, from an editorial office located at 37

         13  Park Row in room 17 and 20.

         14                 If you look across City Hall Park

         15  right now, you can see the site where the building

         16  once stood. We are that close to history.

         17                 But sadly, it's a history that many

         18  people have yet to learn. All of us today owe

         19  Anthony and Stanton a tremendous debt of thanks for

         20  their courage, vision and dedication to equality.

         21                 I work with a number of women's

         22  organizations dedicated to honoring the vast and

         23  varied contributions that women have made to this

         24  nation's history, and we're trying to make sure that

         25  such important historical sites are recognized and
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          2  remembered.

          3                 While the original building at 37

          4  Park Row no longer stands, a street sign can. That

          5  street sign on the Northeast corner or Park Row and

          6  Beekman Street will bear the names of two of the

          7  greatest Americans in the history of this nation.

          8                 In remembering Anthony and Stanton,

          9  we are reminded of just how hard fighting for social

         10  change can be. They dedicated their lives to it.

         11  They inspire us to do the same.

         12                 In the testimony I am giving, which

         13  you're about to receive, there is an attachment.

         14  It's a reproduction of the front page of an issue of

         15  The Revolution, and a description of life inside

         16  their newspaper office that appeared in Volume 1 of

         17  the Life and Work of Susan B. Anthony.  It's the

         18  kind of instant history lesson just as seeing that

         19  new street sign honoring Anthony and Stanton will be

         20  an instant history lesson for the many who walk

         21  these streets.

         22                 As we all know, very few women are

         23  honored by named streets or monuments in this City.

         24  That's nothing less than shocking. New York City

         25  Council has the opportunity and the responsibility
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          2  to help change that situation and designating Susan

          3  B. Anthony and Elizabeth Cady Stanton Corner is an

          4  excellent first step.

          5                 I'm also pleased to submit to you the

          6  statement to you from Lori Barnum, who is Executive

          7  Director of the Susan B. Anthony House in Rochester

          8  New York. She has written in support of this

          9  legislation, as well, and feels it would be a

         10  rightful reminder of the efforts of two of this

         11  country's greatest champions for equal rights.

         12                 She said, "What a great legacy it is

         13  for our State to have provided home and platform for

         14  Anthony and Stanton, as they planned and conducted

         15  campaigns, organized women from across the nation

         16  and published materials that would take the message

         17  of equality to them. The Revolution was one such

         18  publication.

         19                 The Susan B. Anthony House

         20  understands the power of place, and a street name

         21  change would be the place where many, many people

         22  would begin to understand the legacy of Susan B.

         23  Anthony and Elizabeth Cady Stanton.

         24                 The Susan B. Anthony House was the

         25  home of the legendary American civil rights leader
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          2  during most of her politically active period,

          3  including the site of her arrest for voting in 1872.

          4                 Her story of courage and

          5  determination has been told and retold to visitors

          6  at that house for nearly 60 years, and they

          7  experienced firsthand the reaction that people have

          8  when they learn history for the first time.

          9                 A marker, a house, a coin, each of

         10  these can be catalysts and spark someone's

         11  imagination.

         12                 On behalf of Lori Barnum, she urges

         13  you to consider doing this small thing for two women

         14  who gave so much, suffered great ridicule and worked

         15  tirelessly to gain the greatest extension of

         16  democracy this country has ever seen to vote.

         17                 MS. JENKINS: I'm Coline Jenkins, and

         18  I'm here to share with you my personal journey about

         19  the power of place and history in my life.

         20                 By the end of this speech, I hope

         21  that you will equate my personal journey to the

         22  journey every citizen will have to experience.

         23                 I hope I will convince you to honor

         24  the historic site, the site of the newspaper office

         25  of The Revolution, located at 37 Park Row, room 17,
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          2  which is a stone's cast from us.

          3                 I hope you will bestow honor on this

          4  site that will trigger a blast from the past. May

          5  this site ring a bell about the power of the

          6  individual, the power of the printed word, the power

          7  of the women's rights movement from 1848 and beyond.

          8  The power of free speech to transform governments,

          9  such as we do today with you. The power women's

         10  suffrage - the inclusion of 52 percent of the

         11  population - women - into democracy.

         12                 I am here because I am the great,

         13  great granddaughter of Elizabeth Cady Stanton. I

         14  brought a picture of her. And this is Elizabeth,

         15  this is her daughter, and this is her granddaughter,

         16  who is my grandmother. So, since she can't be here.

         17                 Elizabeth Cady Stanton was the editor

         18  of the Revolution, and I brought an original

         19  Revolution for you all. It's seen a little

         20  wear-n-tear. I am the direct matrilineal descendant

         21  of Elizabeth. Her life spanned the 1800s. For 50

         22  years she advanced women's rights.

         23                 Elizabeth Cady Stanton was a broad

         24  thinker, interested in the women's vote, women's

         25  education, property rights, dress reform, divorce
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          2  reform, access to higher education, access to

          3  professions, voting rights, full citizenship,

          4  representation in government, even in the role of

          5  women in the Bible.

          6                 Basically you name a topic about

          7  women, and you can find a mile long paper trail

          8  about Elizabeth's thoughts and actions. She was

          9  extremely articulate, and the power of her word was

         10  astounding.

         11                 So, what's it like living in the skin

         12  of Elizabeth Cady Stanton's great, great

         13  granddaughter? As a young girl it may shock you to

         14  know that I didn't even know who Elizabeth Cady

         15  Stanton was. Neither my mother, nor my grandmother,

         16  who actually lived with Elizabeth Cady Stanton on

         17  the West Side of New York City told me anything

         18  about Elizabeth's life. Somewhat pathetic, right?

         19                 Furthermore, my formal education

         20  lacked any meaning for exposure to Elizabeth Cady

         21  Stanton. For instance, in tenth grade, when I

         22  studied New York State history, I recall a sentence,

         23  perhaps a paragraph, in social studies textbook that

         24  talked about a convention of women's rights

         25  somewhere up in New York State. The fleeting
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          2  reference was just that, fleeting. Nothing clicked

          3  in my mind.

          4                 Furthermore, it might surprise you to

          5  know that in my grandmother's attic, in the house I

          6  frequent in, lay a treasure trove of Stanton

          7  material.

          8                 I'm going to skip a little bit. Among

          9  the treasure trove is several issues of the

         10  revolution. Despite my lack of formal or informal

         11  education in the life of Elizabeth Cady Stanton, do

         12  not despair, that the important legacy of Elizabeth

         13  is not lost and never shared with me. In fact, I

         14  grew up in a soup that was saturated in her values.

         15  The two dominant figures in my youth were my mother

         16  and grandmother, so through their lives I was

         17  exposed to the essence of Elizabeth. In retrospect,

         18  the women in my family were quintessential role

         19  models of women, as envisioned by Elizabeth Cady

         20  Stanton in 1848. Everything denied to women in 1848,

         21  as Elizabeth in her speech, the "Declaration of

         22  Sentiments," were achieved and enjoyed by my mother

         23  and my grandmother.

         24                 As you recall, in my youth I could

         25  attach words to Elizabeth Cady Stanton's life. A
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          2  turning point in my relationship with Elizabeth was

          3  when I was 17. That is when my mother and I

          4  journeyed to Seneca Falls, New York. The destination

          5  was the house of Elizabeth, where she lived in the

          6  mid-1800s. Stepping out of the car, my eyes were

          7  struck by this florid green house - the Stanton

          8  House. Quite honestly, the significance totally

          9  alluded me. Looking back this was the first step of

         10  my consciousness raising.

         11                 A few years later, another pilgrimage

         12  to Seneca Falls, I never forgot my powerful urge to

         13  use the laundromat. Yes, the laundromat, which was

         14  the current site of the first women's rights

         15  convention. At the time I was inserting quarters

         16  into the washing machine, I said to myself, "this is

         17  amazing that I, a citizen of the United States, and

         18  washing my dirty clothes in one of America's most

         19  historically significant sites." I said to myself,

         20  "this is equivalent to putting a laundromat inside

         21  Independence Hall in Philadelphia."

         22                 I knew then it was a matter of time

         23  before America would wake up to honor this site,

         24  this site which was the birthplace of the blueprint

         25  that led to the greatest bestowal of democratic
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          2  freedoms in the history of the United States. The

          3  19th Amendment, the votes for women.

          4                 At that convention, when society

          5  deemed women"promiscuous" for speaking in public.

          6  For instance, right now I am doing something

          7  promiscuous, according to 1848 standards. At this

          8  convention they had the audacity to read the

          9  Declaration of Independence, which they had

         10  rewritten.  In their own words they said, "we hold

         11  these truths to be self evident, men and women are

         12  created equal, that they are endowed by their

         13  creator with certain unalienable rights that among

         14  them life, liberty and the pursuit of happiness."

         15                 At this convention, Elizabeth Cady

         16  Stanton and Frederick Douglas faced public ridicule,

         17  but stood fast to their demand of votes for women.

         18                 In this convention, the participants

         19  promised to carry out a Campaign for Equality. They

         20  said, "in entering upon the great work before us, we

         21  anticipate no small amount of misconception,

         22  misrepresentation and ridicule; but we shall use

         23  every instrumentality within our power to effect our

         24  object. We shall employ agents, circulate tracks,

         25  petition the State and national legislatures and
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          2  endeavor to enlist the pulpit and the press on our

          3  behalf."

          4                 One of the weapons of their

          5  revolution was a newspaper that Stanton and Anthony

          6  published at 37 Park Row, right outside the window.

          7                 To bring you back to the site in

          8  question today, I will read from the original copy

          9  of the Revolution. This issue is from April 23rd,

         10  1868.

         11                 You will see that the mast head that

         12  is in your hand says "Principle, Not Policy: Justice

         13  Not Favors. Men, Their Rights And Nothing More:

         14  Women, Their Rights and Nothing Less."

         15                 In the same issue are comments about

         16  the Revolution written by other newspapers.

         17                 The Newburgh Daily Journal reports,

         18  "We have received the fourteenth number of this

         19  zealous and aggressive advocate of'Women's Rights.'

         20  It is edited by Mrs. Stanton and Parker Pilsbury,

         21  who battle away 'manfully' for what they think

         22  justice requires to be added the 'womanly' stature.

         23  Every aspect of the subject is treated with vigorous

         24  ability, but, naturally, not always with

         25  discretion... 'the Revolution' grapples with public
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          2  questions... especially the 'rights' and 'wrongs' of

          3  women, and discusses politics, finance, and social

          4  topics of every respect."

          5                 The Memorial Rock of Plymouth in

          6  Massachusetts reports, "This sprightly paper, under

          7  the management of Elizabeth Cady Stanton and Susan

          8  B. Anthony, is making quite a stir in journalism. It

          9  discusses public matters and spicy manner, and

         10  provides conclusively that for caustic sharpness and

         11  pointed pungency, a women's pen fully maintains the

         12  reputation of her tongue."

         13                 Now I will conclude my remarks. In

         14  the past 30 years, I've witnessed many milestones in

         15  the celebration of women's history, which is

         16  American history. I have participated in the

         17  establishment of the National Park for Women's

         18  Rights; the establishment of the Women's Hall of

         19  Fame; the interior decorating of the US Capital

         20  Rotunda in Washington, D.C., where now stands a

         21  magnificent statue of the early suffragists -

         22  Lucretia Mott, Susan B. Anthony, Elizabeth Cady

         23  Stanton. These women - the only statues of females

         24  in the capital rotunda stand proudly,

         25  shoulder-to-shoulder were the statues of the
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          2  Founding Fathers of our Nation. Among them,

          3  Washington, Jefferson, Lincoln, Martin Luther King.

          4                 My journey gives me backbone. It

          5  defines me as a citizen. I hope today you will add

          6  to the power of the past so that the history and the

          7  inspiration of the site may shape the future.

          8                 I hope 37 Park Row, Room 17, the home

          9  of the Revolution, will be honored by you today.

         10  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         12                 We've been joined by Robert Jackson

         13  from Manhattan.

         14                 Robert, the vote has been kept open

         15  for you.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: Proposed Intro. 281-A.

         17  Council Member Jackson, how do you vote?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I vote yes.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Thank you.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: The vote is

         21  now six in the affirmative, zero in the negative and

         22  no abstentions.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         24                 We are now going to get into the

         25  oversight part of this hearing, dealing with the

                                                            25

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  public/private partnerships.  Our first witness will

          3  be Deputy Commissioner Jeffrey. Thank you for

          4  waiting.

          5                 David, you're going to come with him?

          6                 MR. RIVEL: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Oh, okay. And

          8  David Rivel and the rest of the Parks, Department of

          9  Parks and New Yorkers for Parks.

         10                 So, everyone knows where they're

         11  sitting? Can you just, as you know, when you sit

         12  down just state your name and affiliation for the

         13  record. And before we go anywhere, we've been joined

         14  by Dennis Gallagher, who will be able to vote.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: I vote aye.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         17                 Do you have the order in which you're

         18  going to start? You have it all choreographed? Okay.

         19  It's true partnership.

         20                 Good DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JEFFREY:

         21  Afternoon, Madam Chair, former Chair Addabbo, and

         22  other members of the Council. I'm very happy to be

         23  here today to give testimony about partnerships and

         24  Partnerships for Parks Program.

         25                 My name is Kevin Jeffrey, and I am
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          2  the Deputy Commissioner for public programs for New

          3  York City Parks and Recreation. And on behalf of

          4  Commissioner Benepe, I am pleased to be here and

          5  discuss the ways in which we encourage many of the

          6  involvement through our Partnership for Parks

          7  Program.

          8                 With me today are Bob Garafola,

          9  Deputy Commissioner of Management and Budget; and

         10  Betsy Smith, Chief of Marketing and Corporate

         11  Sponsorship. And joining me on the panel is David

         12  Rivel, Executive Director of the City Parks

         13  Foundation. CPF, as I'm sure you're aware, or they

         14  should be aware, has been a terrific principal

         15  partner of City Parks and Recreation. There are so

         16  many ways in which CPS supports our parks system,

         17  and I think David has joined me today to speak

         18  specifically about collaborative effort of

         19  Partnerships for Parks, which is jointly run by the

         20  City Parks Foundation, and New York City Parks and

         21  Recreation.

         22                 Also with us is Jennifer Hoffner.

         23  Jenny is the Director of Partnership for Parks, who

         24  not only leads the entire effort, but also really

         25  serves as the mastic, if you will, that brings our
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          2  two organizations together on this effort.

          3                 All three of us, in the spirit of

          4  partnership are being supported by someone the

          5  Council knows well, Roy Haggerty, of our Government

          6  Relations Office.

          7                 Parks and Recreation is responsible

          8  for over 28,000 acres of open space, that includes

          9  everything from green trees to playgrounds to

         10  recreation centers.

         11                 As you know, these properties do not

         12  thrive solely through capital investment and routine

         13  maintenance. Community involvement is just as

         14  important, perhaps even more important.

         15                 Our most successful parks are those

         16  with active and committed community groups, who

         17  consistently care for and support greenspace.

         18                 We have a successful tradition of

         19  nurturing such community involvement, that in turn

         20  enhances the delivery of our core services and the

         21  condition of our facilities.

         22                 Partnership for Parks, a joint

         23  program of Parks and Recreation, and City Parks

         24  Foundation, helps to accomplish this by identifying

         25  and cultivating volunteers.

                                                            28

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 Working together we identify

          3  individuals who are interested in volunteering in

          4  parks, develop stewardship groups, and provide the

          5  tools needed to create strong, sustainable

          6  organizations that support parks.

          7                 Partnership for Parks identifies and

          8  supports stewardship groups through its volunteer

          9  outreach, technical assistance and catalyst program.

         10                 In a moment, Jenny Hoffner, the

         11  Director of Partnerships, will tell you more about

         12  these programs.

         13                 Through its work, Partnership has

         14  built a database of over 4,000 groups, 60,000 park

         15  supporters. In 2003, these volunteers provided over

         16  1 million hours of service to parks across the City.

         17                 It's not through their work alone

         18  that these groups improve parks, the commitment of

         19  volunteers can improve a park's atmosphere,

         20  transforming it into a haven where people come to

         21  relax. Through programming, community groups, draw

         22  people to parks for special events, such as

         23  festivals and clean-up days. Jenny can speak a

         24  little bit about "It's My Park Day" on May 15th.

         25                 In addition, community groups become
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          2  another set of eyes and ears for the agency. Our

          3  dedicated volunteers are intimately familiar with

          4  their parks, and their feedback and input are

          5  invaluable when we redesign a playground or

          6  landscape a park, or make decisions about locking

          7  areas. And it's something that we don't speak about

          8  much, because it's often hard to articulate, but it

          9  really is this local relationship that's developed

         10  with groups that helps us chart the future of so

         11  many local parks.

         12                 We have formal systems for getting

         13  feedback. For example, when we design a playground

         14  we work with a community board. But we often get

         15  extremely valuable opinions on a park site when we

         16  deal with a group that's working, actually working

         17  on the site. In some ways a more contemporary

         18  opinion, if you will.

         19                 The work of Partnership for Parks has

         20  helped give us parks that are better maintained and

         21  supported than have ever been before. David Rivel

         22  will now speak to some of the specifics of a

         23  partnership, and he'll be followed by Jenny Hoffner,

         24  who will get more detail about the strategy we use

         25  to accomplish this important work.
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          2                 Thank you very much.

          3                 MR. RIVEL: Hi. I'm David Rivel. I'm

          4  the Executive Director of the City Parks Foundation.

          5  We're up here on this unusual configuration because

          6  this is an unusual program. It's a true

          7  public/private partnership, which is really served

          8  as a model for other programs around the country.

          9  And I'm very grateful to the Committee, particularly

         10  you, Chair Foster, for scheduling this hearing, to

         11  find out a little bit more about this program.

         12                 I think by now you're all familiar

         13  with the work of the City Parks Foundation. We're a

         14  non-profit organization. We work in 700 parks across

         15  the City in every Council district. We help connect

         16  people to their parks by providing structured

         17  programming for kids, adults and seniors, things

         18  like free concerts and arts performances, free

         19  tennis lessons for kids, educational programs and

         20  much, much more.

         21                 One of the most important things we

         22  do, though, with the Department of Parks and

         23  Recreation, is jointly run the Partnerships for

         24  Parks Program.

         25                 You've all heard me speak before
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          2  about the critical role of community involvement in

          3  parks. Parks are, after all, public spaces, and

          4  without the active involvement and support of the

          5  public, they will not be successful. Just as the

          6  public schools are more successful when parents are

          7  involved, parks are more successful when the people

          8  from the neighborhood that use the parks are

          9  involved in the stewardship of these spaces.

         10                 And building this community

         11  involvement is what Partnerships for Parks program

         12  is all about. It was founded in 1995 by a guy named

         13  Tim Tompkins, who today runs the Times Square

         14  Alliance.

         15                 Tim convinced the Parks Department

         16  and the City Parks Foundation to embark on this

         17  unusual experiment in public/private partnership.

         18  And both entities have since made this program an

         19  integral part of their organizations.

         20                 New York City should be very proud of

         21  the Partnerships for Parks programs and its many

         22  successes.

         23                 The Program's budget today is about

         24  $2 million, about half of it is paid by the Parks

         25  Department, about half of it is paid by the City
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          2  Parks Foundation. There are about 30 employees of

          3  the program that work in all five boroughs of the

          4  City.

          5                 We are frequently called by other

          6  cities to describe the program, explain how it works

          7  and how it can be replicated. Jenny recently went to

          8  Boston to speak to delegation or park supporters

          9  there. Just today I received two calls, one from

         10  Toronto and one from Minneapolis. People have heard

         11  about the program and want to know how they can

         12  start it in their cities. It is truly a national

         13  model.

         14                 The City Council has supported this

         15  program actively in the past, in large measure

         16  through an allocation to the City Parks Foundation.

         17  I just want to tell you how grateful we are for that

         18  support and we hope that we can count on it again in

         19  the upcoming fiscal year.

         20                 And I'd now like to introduce Jenny

         21  Hoffner, who is the Director of the Program. Jenny

         22  joined Partnerships in 1997. Her first project was

         23  to work on the revitalization of Bronx River. That

         24  was really, as you all know, an astounding success.

         25  She was the key person in rallying people in the
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          2  Bronx Community to get behind the effort to save the

          3  river.

          4                 She was then promoted to the position

          5  of director of all of our special projects, and last

          6  year was promoted again to be director of the

          7  overall program. Absolutely delighted to introduce

          8  her to you today. Jenny Hoffner.

          9                 MS. HOFFNER: Thank you, David,

         10  Commissioner Jeffrey.

         11                 Chairperson Foster, members of the

         12  Committee, my name is Jenny Hoffner, as David

         13  mentioned and Commissioner Jeffrey mentioned. I am

         14  the Director of Partnerships for Parks. I am pleased

         15  to be here this afternoon to talk with you about

         16  partnerships and how we support community

         17  involvement in parks all over the City.

         18                 Joining me today are the directors of

         19  Partnerships Programs. Kerri Grassi, who is the

         20  Director of Outreach for Brooklyn, Queens and Staten

         21  Island. Mary Price, who is the Director of Outreach

         22  for Manhattan and the Bronx; Dina Melina, who is our

         23  Director of our Volunteer Program; Charlotte Kaiser,

         24  Director of Technical Assistance; and to Mark

         25  Greenfield, our Director of Catalysts. And you'll
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          2  hear more about those programs in a moment.

          3                 We all know that parks with an active

          4  community group do better than parks without it.

          5  Parks with dedicated eyes, ears and voices thrive.

          6  We have seen, for instance, that a park that

          7  undergoes capital renovation and has a stewardship

          8  group will fare better a year later than one that

          9  experiences the same renovation without the

         10  stewardship group.

         11                 When people love their parks and take

         12  an active role, it really makes a difference. For

         13  these reasons, Partnerships was founded in 1995, to

         14  start, strengthen and support neighborhood park

         15  groups, link these groups together so that they can

         16  learn from each other and become stronger

         17  collectively, and promote involvement in parks so

         18  that people would join the efforts to preserve and

         19  restore them.

         20                 As a joint program of a public agency

         21  and a private City Parks Foundation, Partnerships

         22  works closely with the staff and resources of both

         23  to respond to community needs and to help community

         24  groups help their parks.

         25                 Almost ten years after Partnerships'
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          2  creation, nearly half of New York City's parks have

          3  affiliated groups working to improve them.

          4                 And we now serve as a national model,

          5  as David mentioned, and a resource for cities around

          6  the country.

          7                 In fact, in October of 2000,

          8  Partnerships received the prestigious Innovations in

          9  Government Award, for our work connecting people to

         10  parks.

         11                 So, a little bit about what we do. At

         12  Partnerships we do two things: We promote awareness

         13  of parks citywide, to encourage people to become

         14  involved; and, two, we develop intensive community

         15  stewardship at the local level and neighborhood

         16  parks.

         17                 There are four components to the

         18  program, which I mentioned before when I introduced

         19  the directors. The volunteer support; the outreach;

         20  three, technical assistance; and four, catalysts.

         21                 First, our volunteer program. Our

         22  volunteer program promotes involvement in parks and

         23  connects interested individuals, businesses and

         24  organizations to volunteer opportunities.

         25                 It channels volunteers to parks and
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          2  CPF projects and events, and promotes volunteer

          3  opportunities by posting on our website, partner

          4  websites and through our quarterly newsletter, the

          5  Leaflet, which is in your folders.

          6                 In 2003, Spring and Fall "It's My

          7  Park" days hosted more than 300 distinct clean-ups

          8  and events, and nearly 9,000 participants.

          9                 We currently communicate with a

         10  network of nearly 4,000 organizations, and 60,000

         11  park supporters. Their contributions are significant

         12  and can be seen in parks across the five boroughs.

         13                 Last year alone, park stewards and

         14  volunteers contributed over 1 million hours of

         15  volunteer time to parks. And this time and service

         16  is valued at approximately $10 million. Again, very

         17  significant.

         18                 Through our outreach program, we

         19  provide direct outreach and assistance in every

         20  neighborhood of New York City. We connect local

         21  people to their local parks.

         22                 With our 13 outreach coordinators in

         23  all five boroughs, we take the pulse of the

         24  community, we find out what the needs are and we

         25  provide the support to help them help their parks.
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          2                 Our outreach coordinators work with

          3  groups to solve problems, respond to volunteer

          4  requests for projects, information and supplies,

          5  maintain relationships with parks groups and connect

          6  the groups to technical assistance and other

          7  resources, like grants.

          8                 Over the past two years, our outreach

          9  coordinators have supported the creation of over 34

         10  new Friends of Parks groups. And in 2003, our

         11  outreach coordinators actively engaged in 549

         12  community and civic groups and parks improvement

         13  initiatives.

         14                 We help community groups organize

         15  locally-sponsored events, and convened over 760

         16  meetings to do everything from planning to produce a

         17  film festival in our parks, as the Friends of Coffee

         18  Park did in Brooklyn, to planning and planting a

         19  garden in Christopher, as the Christopher Park

         20  Partnership did in Manhattan.

         21                 Our Technical Assistance Program

         22  provides tools and resources and training to

         23  community-based park stewardship groups to support

         24  our outreach efforts, as the third program.

         25                 These tools range from workshops on
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          2  topics, such as Making Your Park Safer, and Grant

          3  Writing 101, to customized coaching on how to

          4  develop a vision and action plan for your park.

          5                 We also produce outreach materials,

          6  such as brochures and calendars to help groups

          7  promote their events and build memberships. And

          8  finally we award small grants, 250 to 5,000 dollar

          9  grants, to build capacity within the groups and

         10  support the development of things like letterhead or

         11  a group getting their 501(c)(3) certification, or

         12  purchasing gardening supplies. Then later you'll

         13  hear from Katherine Speller, of the Half Nelson Park

         14  Association, who has received such a grant.

         15                 To avoid reinventing the wheel, our

         16  TA program documents success stories, so that when

         17  something works in one park, we are able to share

         18  that sometimes hard-won lesson of parks groups and

         19  staffs across the City and across the country.

         20                 To help you better understand the

         21  variety of materials we provide and resources, I've

         22  included some information in your packet.

         23                 Our catalyst program is an innovative

         24  approach to building community stewardship of New

         25  York City parks to concentrated projects that
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          2  cultivate diverse partnerships with everyone from

          3  community groups, government agencies, non-profit

          4  schools and businesses, and through these

          5  partnerships we leverage resources to produce

          6  on-the-ground change.

          7                 In October of 2003, Mayor Bloomberg,

          8  Commissioner Benepe, and CPF's Executive Director

          9  David Rivel, officially launched this $25 million

         10  Catalyst for Neighborhood Parks Program, focusing on

         11  collections of parks: Historic Harlem, Astoria, Long

         12  Island City, Red Hook, and Highbridge and Highbridge

         13  Parks.

         14                 At each collection of parks we are

         15  identifying and recruiting key stakeholders to help

         16  build commitment for both specific park activities,

         17  and for larger neighborhood revitalization

         18  strategies.

         19                 A good example of a catalyst project,

         20  and one that I worked on, is our pilot catalyst

         21  right on the Bronx River, where we successfully

         22  convened over 65 diverse partners, and in the

         23  interest of time I won't name them all, and focused

         24  on the common goal of restoring the ecology of and

         25  the access to this neglected river.
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          2                 In four years, working together we

          3  secured over $113 million in capital and planning

          4  funds, acquired over 40 acres of parkland, created

          5  three put-ins (phonetic) and moved 10,000 tires and

          6  50 cars.

          7                 Later you will hear from Carla

          8  McIntosh of the Marcus Garvey Park Alliance, about

          9  those successful efforts at their pilot catalyst

         10  site. And I've also included some related

         11  information in your packets about Historic Harlem

         12  and Marcus Garvey.

         13                 Partnerships for Parks effectively

         14  connects people, community groups and volunteers to

         15  their parks and serves as a model for cities across

         16  the country.

         17                 Now that you know a little more about

         18  our program, we invite you to take part in some

         19  upcoming events. To see what groups in your

         20  districts are up to, we invite you to take part in

         21  It's My Park Day, which is May 15th, and you'll find

         22  more information on that in your packet.

         23                 We appreciate the Council's interest

         24  and community involvement in parks, and hope that

         25  you will continue to support this important program.
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          2  We are happy to answer any of your questions. Thank

          3  you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. Since

          5  everyone is here together in true partnership, let

          6  me just start with a few questions.

          7                 Walk me through both the Department

          8  of Parks and Recreation, and from Parks, City Parks

          9  Foundation. If I am a community person and see this

         10  park, I want to get involved. If I come to the Parks

         11  Department, what assistance is given in terms of

         12  letting me know how I can do it, what I need to do,

         13  and how is this information disseminated in that I

         14  might see a park, I might want to be involved, but I

         15  have no idea what to do next?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JEFFREY: Yes,

         17  I'll start very briefly with that, but then I'll

         18  direct it to Jenny.

         19                 Very often what will happen is the

         20  local park manager, park supervisor or park worker

         21  will be approached by a member of the public, a

         22  member of the community, and ask how they can help,

         23  ask how they can make a difference. That person

         24  would reach out to their supervisor, put in touch

         25  with one of the borough outreach coordinators, and
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          2  then we would start the process of not only that

          3  individual involved but also seeing whether we can

          4  identify a larger group.

          5                 What would be the next step to that?

          6                 MS. HOFFNER: Exactly that. When we

          7  get a call, essentially there are two types. There's

          8  usually a person who may be interested in getting

          9  involved in parks in general, they just want to come

         10  out one day anywhere. And we direct them to any

         11  number of regularly scheduled clean-ups, plantings

         12  in parks around the City, and we have them listed on

         13  our website. But we also will answer their calls and

         14  try to channel them to an appropriate activity and a

         15  park around the City.

         16                 The other type of call we get are

         17  people interested in getting involved in their park

         18  in their neighborhood and making a change there.

         19  Sometimes it's just one person or sometimes it's

         20  just a small group of people. We put them in touch

         21  with our outreach coordinators, and the outreach

         22  coordinators work with them to identify exactly what

         23  their goals are for their park. Is it a safety

         24  issue? Is it that they want to do clean-ups? Is it

         25  that they want to have programs in the parks? And we
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          2  help to connect them to the resources within City

          3  Parks Foundation, within parks that can help them to

          4  reach their goal.

          5                 Sometimes if they want to build a

          6  group, we will then provide them with other

          7  resources, like workshops on how to structure a

          8  group, how to build leadership, how to develop the

          9  501(c)(3) certification, and then they go from

         10  there.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Is there an

         12  opportunity for the Department of Parks and

         13  Recreation to actually help fund these groups that

         14  are coming, wanting to be involved with the park?

         15                 MS. HOFFNER: As a public/private

         16  partnership, the Parks Department supports

         17  partnerships and so does CPF. We provide grants for

         18  groups that range from $250 to $5,000 and those are

         19  grants that come through City Parks Foundation.

         20                 Last year we provided $36,000 in

         21  small grants to local groups, and this year we

         22  anticipate providing about $54,000 of small grants

         23  to local groups.

         24                 And in addition to that, we're giving

         25  $40,000 specifically to groups in the catalyst site,
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          2  so a total of $94,000 in small grants.

          3                 MR. RIVEL: Let me just add to that.

          4  We have a couple of different sources for grants. We

          5  have a dedicated endowment of over a million

          6  dollars, the interest from which is available every

          7  year for grants.

          8                 We also serve as an advisor or

          9  consultant to individuals who want to channel money

         10  to parks groups around the city, but don't

         11  necessarily know the players, don't necessarily know

         12  who is out there doing good work. The Jan Kaplan

         13  fund, for example, every year asks us to help them

         14  disperse about 50- 60,000 dollars a year in grants.

         15                 In addition, the Melon Foundation

         16  gave $2 million to parks in general and asked City

         17  Parks Foundation to direct that money to Park groups

         18  around the City. We have a dedicated endowment which

         19  spins off grants every year, and then we're always

         20  looking for opportunities for individual foundations

         21  or corporations who need some help spending their

         22  money in the parks field, and we can channel some

         23  money to parks groups that way as well.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And are you

         25  comfortable in the fact that jointly as you sit
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          2  here, it diverts in terms of the communities you

          3  reach and the areas in the City that you reach?

          4                 MR. RIVEL: We actually try to focus

          5  our resources on low-income neighborhoods. The parks

          6  that have already sort of on their own gotten

          7  together and created entities like the Central Park

          8  Conservancy or the Parks Alliance, we will work with

          9  those groups and help them if they need it. But we

         10  try to focus the resources we have, the people

         11  resources, the grants, the technical assistance, on

         12  the smaller community groups just getting started,

         13  particularly those in low-income neighborhoods.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Let me just

         15  switch a little and then Council Member Brewer has a

         16  question.

         17                 With some of these large scale

         18  projects, like the Hudson River Park, Brooklyn

         19  Bridge Park, what is the relationship between these

         20  organizations in the trust and the Department of

         21  Parks; what type of oversight is done? And do you

         22  know if there's any plan to put these large scale

         23  programs in communities of color?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JEFFREY: It's a

         25  very complex question. It doesn't lend itself to an
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          2  easy answer. We might actually need another hearing

          3  on that issue alone.

          4                 The Battery Park and Hudson River

          5  Park are very unique relationships. They're actually

          6  authorities that have been developed, municipal and

          7  state entities combined.

          8                 So, those organizational structures

          9  are very, very different than even the larger

         10  management and licensing agreements we have with

         11  groups like Prospect Park Alliance, or Central Park

         12  Conservancy.

         13                 One of the biggest challenges is that

         14  for areas like Hudson River Park and Battery Park

         15  it's really combined City and State land, so they're

         16  not bound to the same rules and regulations, as

         17  those that we realize are on true parks property,

         18  and when I say "true parks property," City-owned

         19  parks property. So, there's a set of rules and

         20  regulations for areas like Central Park or Prospect

         21  Park, which are New York City parkland that are very

         22  different than the rules and regulations for

         23  authorities that are on this combined state and

         24  municipal property.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Are those lines

                                                            47

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  clearly drawn? In the sense, does the Department of

          3  Parks and Recreation understand their role as

          4  opposed to what's the state role, and are those

          5  roles respected by the authority?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JEFFREY: Yes,

          7  they are. But as I said, the relationships are

          8  extremely complex, and I'll give you I guess one

          9  example that will sort of demonstrate how complex

         10  they are.

         11                 Hudson River Park. The Hudson River

         12  Park Trust literally contracts with the New York

         13  City Department of Parks. For us to provide the park

         14  enforcement patrol security officers that then

         15  enforce laws that are identical to that of the laws

         16  that you find on New York City Parks property,

         17  that's one way that this relationship works. But it

         18  is very complex and it is very specific to each of

         19  those authority-run sites.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Do you know if

         21  any of these authorities are going to have, you may

         22  know, may not know, in the future look to other

         23  areas outside of Manhattan or Brooklyn Bridge area,

         24  which is very close to Manhattan?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JEFFREY: We're
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          2  not really certain of other opportunities that are

          3  abrew, but I should point out that the Parks

          4  Commissioner Adrian Benepe sits on boards of both

          5  organizations, that is Battery Park City and Hudson

          6  River Park Trust.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          8                 Council Member Brewer.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         10  much. And I want to thank the Commissioner for your

         11  help with 59th Street Rec Center. We're moving

         12  along. Thank you. We did 20 million, though, not

         13  two, just so you know. We're working on it.

         14                 I have two questions: One is, my

         15  understanding is that you are responsive when

         16  somebody calls, so I wanted to know kind of how many

         17  parks or playgrounds are part of your program, or

         18  part of Adopt A Park? Maybe you mentioned it and I

         19  wasn't paying attention.

         20                 Because one of my concerns is, if you

         21  see a park in your travels -- the Parks Department

         22  obviously does the best job they can with limited

         23  staff; can you try to organize people to form, as

         24  opposed to waiting when somebody calls you? That's

         25  question number one.
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          2                 The second one is, the Housing

          3  Authority: I'm a big promoter of the work that the

          4  Housing Authority. In some of the developments in my

          5  district and elsewhere, there are parks within the

          6  Housing Authority. Actually most people don't

          7  realize that those are Parks' parks and not Housing

          8  Authority parks. That's a place where a great deal

          9  of technical assistance is needed.

         10                 So, I want to know if you know how

         11  many are in that category? And if you do provide

         12  technical assistance, with all due respect to Tino

         13  Hernandez, who is Chair, he's got great bricks and

         14  mortar and lousy programs. So, he needs help in

         15  terms of support for the wonderful people who are

         16  tenants and Parks is a great place for that.

         17                 So, Housing Authority, I want to know

         18  if you're doing technical assistance for those

         19  parks.

         20                 The third question is schools. A lot

         21  of schools have playgrounds, and some are

         22  playgrounds of Department of Ed, and some of

         23  playgrounds are yours, and most people don't know

         24  whose is what.

         25                 The problem is that, and I don't know
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          2  the answer to this, the Department of Ed gets

          3  nervous with if you open them on the evenings or

          4  weekends, then they feel they have an insurance -- I

          5  never understand if it's their insurance, or your

          6  insurance, or what. So, I want to know if there's

          7  any thought. I've been bugging Adrian Benepe about

          8  this, so don't feel bad. I want to know if there's

          9  any thought. In our community we have playgrounds,

         10  young people on the street, the playgrounds are

         11  closed on the weekend. I assume that's Department of

         12  Ed, but sometimes it's yours. I want to know if

         13  you're thinking about that, just playgrounds,

         14  Department of Ed, and opening them up in a way that

         15  would satisfy any insurance concerns, weekends and

         16  evenings.

         17                 And then, finally, the Department of

         18  Ed I think has this pencil program, where we all run

         19  around principals for a day. Many of us are in the

         20  schools anyway, but I think it does get the

         21  community that's not usually in a school into the

         22  school. So, I'm just wondering if that's a model

         23  that you think of, you know, in trying to get some

         24  people to go to some of these community parks, that

         25  isn't somebody who is normally in that park and who
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          2  might help with funding or other kinds of support.

          3                 Those are my questions.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JEFFREY: I'm

          5  going to actually take some of this in reverse

          6  order, if I can.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JEFFREY: And

          9  perhaps first just talk about our relationship with

         10  Department of Education, and what I can honestly say

         11  is a growing relationship.

         12                 Commissioner Benepe has been taking a

         13  look at this whole issue, or should I say, better

         14  yet, an opportunity, to better program and operate

         15  joint-operated playgrounds.

         16                 I should mention, over the last

         17  couple of years, I really think it has to do with

         18  the restructuring of the Board of Ed, and it now

         19  falling in as a mayoral agency, we have had

         20  phenomenal collaboration with them. As you probably

         21  know, we actually run a joint school in the Bronx.

         22  They are very much involved in our Wake Up Shape Up

         23  Program, which is our fitness initiatives, so much

         24  so that we have now trained our Parks and Recreation

         25  staff in the same fitness agenda that the physical
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          2  ed teachers are getting in the schools.

          3                 So, I think the building of those

          4  relationships shows as much promise on how we'll

          5  collaboratively take a look at the programming

          6  opening, and operation of these joint operated

          7  playgrounds.

          8                 I think one of your first questions

          9  was whether there is room for us to initiate the

         10  development of a constituency group or a volunteer

         11  group, and we've actually done that in a number of

         12  cases. We've got a very exciting project in a

         13  recently renovated park in Queens, Rover Cleveland

         14  Park, where we've actually, and it's out of concern

         15  to maintain the capital investment that we recently

         16  put into the park. We started to develop constituent

         17  groups working very closely with the local high

         18  school, to get some of the young people involved.

         19  There is certainly room for us to initiate

         20  development of a collaborative project when it comes

         21  to the Partnership for Parks Program.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Is there like

         23  a GIS where you list all the parks, and if there is

         24  support, that kind of thing, or you're working on

         25  that?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JEFFREY: We're

          3  working on that. The GIS is something entirely

          4  different. It's a project that's actually being done

          5  out of DoITT, where we're taking a look at

          6  developing a number of layers, park properties by

          7  facility, and more importantly the infrastructure

          8  that's there available to the community, and then

          9  we're overlaying that with information, locations of

         10  schools, and the features those schools have, be it

         11  pools, outdoor fields, to start to take a look how

         12  we can collaboratively better serve the communities.

         13                 And the nice thing about the GIS

         14  overlay is you can take a look at it, and the

         15  opportunities for partnership are --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So one of the

         17  overlays could be the partnership layer?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JEFFREY: Sure. I

         19  imagine that would be the next layer that we could

         20  do, and that would show not only where we have the

         21  groups that have evolved that are doing this work,

         22  but opportunities to develop groups to do that in

         23  support.

         24                 And I think I'll let Jenny answer

         25  your second and middle question, if I tracked that
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          2  right.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 MS. HOFFNER: I'll start with the

          6  intensive outreach piece. Building on what

          7  Commissioner Jeffrey said, we have anyone that calls

          8  us we will respond to so that there is that resource

          9  available to any park in the City. We're in half the

         10  parks now with groups.

         11                 The reason why we respond to groups,

         12  and we can't just go out and take on every park

         13  that's out there, it's partly because it's just so

         14  energy-intensive to help create a group, and it's

         15  really important to have that initial local interest

         16  to build from.

         17                 That said, in the case of Grover

         18  Cleveland, and, for example, where resources are

         19  coming together from all sides, we have CPF

         20  programming, we have parks programming, we're

         21  working with the community board in local high

         22  school. Generally where we focus that intensive kind

         23  of outreach is in our catalyst sites.

         24                 And an example that touches on

         25  another one of your questions, is Red Hook, where
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          2  working with a local community group Coffee Park, we

          3  were responding to their interest, and over the

          4  years we've worked with them to build the group,

          5  we've now added another layer of that and we've now

          6  brought that project to a catalyst level. We're

          7  working with, we have a catalyst coordinator working

          8  with the Friends of Coffee and reaching out to

          9  partners beyond that, working with Parks, working

         10  with CPF, we're working with tenants associations,

         11  working with groups. So, that's an example where --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: That would be

         13  used with a model in other housing authorities, once

         14  we get it off the ground, sooner rather than later?

         15                 MS. HOFFNER: Our catalyst sites very

         16  often serve as the models.

         17                 In addition, Queens Bridge is another

         18  example where there's a catalyst site there.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         20                 MS. HOFFNER: We have been working

         21  intensively in the past. We will be now with the

         22  Friends of Queens Bridge.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Any questions?

         25                 Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

          3  Madam Chair. Good morning. And I do want to commend

          4  the Parks Department, City Parks Foundation, and the

          5  Partnership for Parks, for the great work that they

          6  do, and the partnership that they have now,

          7  obviously a teamwork here, that does benefit all of

          8  our residents throughout the City. And I do agree

          9  that with Parks participation, and involvement in

         10  our parks, obviously that's the critical element or

         11  factor needed to make sure our parks remain the

         12  great areas that they are.

         13                 Now, I think that was the major

         14  thrust behind the Adopt A Park program that was

         15  again introduced the City Council, enacted in

         16  December '03, that through participation we can

         17  obviously help our parks through the tough financial

         18  times.

         19                 So, my line of questioning would have

         20  to do, if you have any information regarding the

         21  adopt a park program, how has it been implemented by

         22  the Parks Department, has it been successful, what

         23  kind of revenue have we seen, how many parks come

         24  under the purview of Adopt A Parks? So if you have

         25  any information regarding that, I would greatly like
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          2  to hear it.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JEFFREY:

          4  Congratulations, by the way. I think to answer this

          5  question I'll ask Deputy Commissioner Bob Garafola

          6  to come up and speak about our progress.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: Hi,

          8  Councilman.

          9                 In terms of the Adopt A Park program,

         10  Parks has started the program. We have been getting

         11  some inquiries. We have 40 inquiries that we have

         12  gotten so far. Most of the inquiries we are getting

         13  however basically for volunteer opportunity, so

         14  those are the ones we really send over to the

         15  partnership program in which they work, and that's

         16  basically where they're working, in parks that are

         17  in the neighborhood that they want to improve and

         18  they want to fix and make a part of.

         19                 In terms of financial contributions,

         20  in terms of financial partnership, we've been

         21  getting some feedback and some involvement in terms

         22  of certain companies, and with doing that there is

         23  like three comfort stations that we have in

         24  Manhattan that we've gotten some financial

         25  remuneration for.

                                                            58

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 We also have two green streets in

          3  Manhattan, and we also have, you know, a previous

          4  agreement that we have which is a long term

          5  agreement, is approximately three green streets as

          6  well.

          7                 So, we've been getting some green

          8  streets, we've been getting some comfort stations,

          9  we haven't had a full park yet.

         10                 We also have another agreement that

         11  we have with Entenman's, which is in Queens, which

         12  has done work in Queens for us, which is in 27

         13  parks, and basically that's for restoring and

         14  repairing playground equipment.

         15                 So, it hasn't been that it's been a

         16  full park that they have taken over and adopted

         17  fully that we're really working on that and we want

         18  to do that. And in terms of when we recently did

         19  this thing in Manhattan, in terms of the comfort

         20  stations, we do get a lot of play on Fox TV and also

         21  New York 1. So, we're hoping that gets out, you

         22  know, and people see those kind of things, and those

         23  kind of opportunities also, in terms of our website,

         24  in terms of advertising there.

         25                 Also, basically our marketing
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          2  information that we're putting together and redoing,

          3  so Adopt A Park is one of the things that we're

          4  really trying to push, and we think it's an

          5  important part of parks and plays right into the

          6  whole partnership, that we work with Partnerships

          7  With Parks.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Deputy

          9  Commissioner, thank you very much. And I appreciate

         10  the post card. That was my follow-up question, how

         11  is it being promoted. But through this, and as you

         12  say, the New York 1 and --

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GARAFOLA: New

         14  York 1 Fox TV did something with that, and also our

         15  website, and also if anyone knows of any

         16  organizations or corporations or foundations who

         17  want to make some kind of a contribution or get

         18  involved in some way, if you could send them in our

         19  direction we're glad to meet with them and discuss

         20  some kind of project or opportunities for them. And

         21  we really have a lot of openings, and it's a

         22  combination. It can be facilities, it can be

         23  programs.

         24                 For instance, we have a Playground

         25  Associate Program, we'll put somebody in Parks and
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          2  they'll basically run, you know, programs or we have

          3  summer camps in parks, which City Park Foundation is

          4  very involved in as well, and we can put them

          5  involved in that or even in rec centers. We have

          6  training, educational programs, athletic programs,

          7  computer programs, et cetera.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Deputy

          9  Commissioner, thank you very much. And to the panel,

         10  I appreciate your time and testimony today, and also

         11  your efforts with our parks. Thank you so much.

         12                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         14                 Council Member Jackson, do you have

         15  any questions?

         16                 Okay. Just to piggy-back on Council

         17  Member Addabbo's question, can you explain the

         18  difference between a group that is involved in Adopt

         19  A Park, a Partnership for a Park, and then a Trust

         20  for a Park?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JEFFREY: I'll

         22  take a stab at that. The reason I say stab is

         23  because we're still evolving this whole Adopt A Park

         24  Program. One big difference is, quite frankly, the

         25  financial support, and I think one of the things the
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          2  Chair wanted to put in effect with this Adopt A Park

          3  program is that there would be an organization that

          4  would only bring resources in terms of help and

          5  support, physical help and support. Also, monetary

          6  resources. And it's certainly a difference in our

          7  approach that partnerships, where in order to get

          8  sustainability for evolved groups, we may start to

          9  teach groups how to start to do fund development

         10  themselves to sustain a program. And we don't make

         11  that a requirement or a request in the onset of the

         12  relationship, if you will.

         13                 So, I guess that's one of the major

         14  differences.

         15                 MR. RIVEL: Partnerships for Parks

         16  Program is all about helping people who want to get

         17  involved in their park and may not know how to do

         18  it, may lack the resources on how to do it. A lot of

         19  the trusts or authorities that are set up are set up

         20  by people who sort of already have that knowledge,

         21  and know how to create a 501(c)(3), know how to get

         22  permission to get an authority set up.

         23                 The Partnerships for Parks Program is

         24  specifically targeted at the ordinary citizen who

         25  wants to do something productive in their
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          2  neighborhood parks, and just doesn't know what to do

          3  next. We give them technical assistance, give them

          4  small grants to get started, we hold their hand

          5  through the whole process of attracting other people

          6  into the park, creating an organization, and that's

          7  what the program does.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Anything else?

          9  Okay, thank you.

         10                 Thank you. Next we are going to hear

         11  from Allison Farina, New Yorkers for Parks; and Ed

         12  Benson from Central Park Conservancy.

         13                 MS. FARINA: Good afternoon. My name

         14  is Allison Farina. I'm Director of Government and

         15  Community Affairs at New Yorkers for Parks, a

         16  Citywide coalition of over 1,000 civic greening,

         17  recreation and economic development groups committed

         18  to ensuring that the public receive well-designed

         19  programs and manage parks in every neighborhood.

         20                 First, I'd like to commend the

         21  Department of Parks and Recreation for creating and

         22  fostering many wonderful private, public, well,

         23  public/private initiatives in New York City.

         24                 DPR has forged relationships with

         25  corporations, community groups, philanthropists and
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          2  volunteers, as we've heard in prior testimony, and

          3  these efforts have had a great impact on the quality

          4  of our City's parks system.

          5                 New York City is truly a national

          6  leader when it comes to municipal parks. The City

          7  can claim many firsts in the history of parks and

          8  playgrounds, including the first municipal park to

          9  be equipped as a permanent playground, Seward Park,

         10  the first municipal bike path in the country, the

         11  Prospect Park Coney Island Bicycle Path, and the

         12  first urban golf course in the country in Van

         13  Cortlandt Park.

         14                 Then, of course, there is Central

         15  Park, the first major inner-city park, designed

         16  entirely for public use, which has become an

         17  international model for public/private park

         18  partnerships throughout the work of the Central Park

         19  Conservancy.

         20                 Public/private partnerships like the

         21  Central Park Conservancy, have contributed

         22  enormously to the City's parks. Commissioner Benepe,

         23  and his 2002 State of the Parks Address, estimated

         24  that together groups like CPC, Central Parks

         25  Conservancy, raise and spend somewhere between 30
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          2  million and $40 million a year on park improvements,

          3  not including the immense value of volunteer

          4  services.

          5                 Unfortunately, though, no good deed

          6  goes unpunished. Unprecedented levels of private

          7  investment have supplanted and not enhanced public

          8  coffers. Around the private sector to disinvest in

          9  parks. In fact, public investment in this world

         10  class and historic park system has ranked near the

         11  bottom of the nation's 25 top cities in per capita

         12  spending in recent years.

         13                 The result is a two-tiered park

         14  system. While many of the City's most famous green

         15  spaces, including Central Bryant and Madison Square

         16  Parks, are insulated from the City's diminishing

         17  park investments. Too many of our neighborhood

         18  parks, the smaller ones, are in jeopardy, struggling

         19  in the bottom ranks of a two-tiered system.

         20                 For the past 25 years, in both good

         21  and bad economic times, the budget for the

         22  Department of Parks and Recreation has been

         23  repeatedly cut. And this cut has been felt most

         24  severely in neighborhood parks that are fully

         25  dependent upon public funding.
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          2                 Relying on public funds alone to

          3  support neighborhood parks has not adequately met

          4  the maintenance needs of the parks or of their park

          5  users. Volunteers cannot be expected to fix

          6  plumbing.

          7                 Though the public/private model has

          8  done wonders for some parks, it cannot reach into

          9  all neighborhoods.

         10                 NYFP, New Yorkers For Parks, for the

         11  last year has called for the City to focus on

         12  neighborhood parks through an adaptive version of

         13  public/private investment and the DPR and the City

         14  Council have been receptive to this idea, we're glad

         15  to report.

         16                 This new joint New Yorkers for Parks,

         17  Parks Program, the Neighborhood Parks Initiative is

         18  designed to provide aid to those neighborhood parks

         19  that rely solely upon public funding and volunteers.

         20                 Through a combination of public and

         21  private commitment, this program will assist parks

         22  in need in every borough, and will result, NPI,

         23  Neighborhood Parks Initiative, will result in 100

         24  renovated neighborhood parks, and a green line

         25  standard of care, community stewardship and
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          2  dedicated public funding for long-term maintenance,

          3  and, of course, all private commitments are to

          4  enhance rather than replace public funds.

          5                 Now, a green line, I just want to

          6  mention, a green line standard of care means more

          7  than just basic services such as open bathrooms and

          8  working drinking fountains, a green line refers to

          9  almost an elevated standard, which would mean

         10  increased horticultural, more flowers, a more

         11  beautiful environment, and really well programmed

         12  parks. You know, many more programs for children.

         13                 Conclusion. The City's neighborhood

         14  parks are the front and back yards for millions of

         15  New Yorkers, and just like anyone's home they

         16  require adequate investment if they are to be

         17  maintained and flourished.

         18                 While public/private partnerships

         19  have created pristine flagship parks, more needs to

         20  be done for New York City's neighborhood parks. The

         21  Neighborhood Parks Initiative will help ensure that

         22  all New Yorkers have access to quality parks and

         23  recreation services that they deserve, and will help

         24  preserve the City's reputation as that of a parks

         25  innovator with the world class parks system.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 MR. BENSON: Thank you, Madam Chair,

          4  and Council members.

          5                 Good afternoon. My name is Edward

          6  Benson. I am the Director for Government and

          7  Community Relations with Central Park Conservancy.

          8  And the Conservancy was founded in 1980, as a

          9  private non-for-profit organization to focus

         10  attention on deteriorated conditions of Central Park

         11  and to take action to stem the park's decline.

         12                 Since that time, the conservancy has

         13  become a model for public/private partnerships for

         14  parks throughout the country and the world.

         15                 From its inception, the conservancy

         16  was a partnership. Its founding traces back to the

         17  vision of four partners, Betsy Barlow Rogers, a

         18  private citizen, landscape historian and advocate;

         19  Gordon Davis, Commissioner of Parks and Recreation;

         20  William Beinecke, a widely known and well-respected

         21  New York corporate executive, and Mayor Koch.

         22                 Together they realized that raising

         23  private funds to supplement public resources would

         24  be the only way to assure the restoration of the

         25  park, and that ongoing, the public/private
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          2  partnership model would be the most effective way to

          3  operate the park in the future.

          4                 Since that time, the partnership has

          5  thrived and expanded. Over the past 24 years, more

          6  than $3 million in private resources have been

          7  raised to restore and maintain Central Park.

          8                 Initially, the Conservancy focused

          9  its attention on the capital restoration of the

         10  park. However, as each capital project was

         11  completed, the Conservancy assumed responsibility

         12  for maintaining what has been restored.

         13                 In 1998 the Conservancy signed a

         14  formal contract with the Department of Parks and

         15  Recreation, which named the Conservancy "keeper of

         16  the park" and authorizes its work.

         17                 Today the Conservancy's

         18  responsibility have expanded to include daily care

         19  and maintenance of the park, capital construction,

         20  management of special events, operation and staffing

         21  of the park's three visitor centers, education and

         22  recreation programming, and operation and staffing

         23  of the North Meadow Recreation Center.

         24                 In addition, the Conservancy is

         25  responsible for raising almost 85 percent of the
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          2  operating funds needed to run Central Park.

          3                 The Parks Department, Department of

          4  Parks and Recreation, on the other hand, continues

          5  to maintain total authority over policy and

          6  enforcement in the park, and is responsible for the

          7  roads, lighting, security, including the New York

          8  City Police Department precinct, which is located in

          9  Central Park.

         10                 All projects initiated by the

         11  Conservancy require the approval of the Parks

         12  Commissioner, including all capital and restoration

         13  work, as well as special events.

         14                 Further, because of its landmarked

         15  status, each community board surrounding the park,

         16  the Art Commission and the Landmarks Preservation

         17  review and approve all capital projects undertaken

         18  in the park.

         19                 This partnership extends to the Board

         20  and staff level as well. The Mayor appoints five

         21  members of the Conservancy's Board and the Manhattan

         22  Borough President and the Parks Commissioner are

         23  ex-officio Board members.

         24                 The Central Park administrator has a

         25  dual reporting responsibility to both the

                                                            70

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  Commissioner and the Conservancy, and the operation

          3  staff of the Conservancy work with the employees of

          4  the Parks Department in the field.

          5                 Each partner has a clearly defined

          6  role, a factor that is critically important to the

          7  success of the partnership. And through both formal

          8  and informal meetings, communication between the

          9  Conservancy and the Department is frequent and

         10  ongoing.

         11                 Beyond the partnership between the

         12  City and the Conservancy, thousands of civic minded

         13  New Yorkers have joined the partnership as

         14  volunteers to help with the care of the Park.

         15                 Volunteers assist in providing

         16  information to the public, give tours, teach

         17  classes, help staff the visitor centers and work

         18  side-by-side with the Park's zone gardeners in the

         19  field.

         20                 In fact, many volunteers work two to

         21  three days a week in the Park assisting with

         22  horticulture and other maintenance projects. Over

         23  2,000 volunteers work in the Park each year and are

         24  a critical source for staff support.

         25                 Clearly, the Central Park is a unique
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          2  model that harnesses public/private resources,

          3  provides public/private input and requires

          4  public/private cooperation on many levels. It's

          5  success is a tribute to its visionary creators, as

          6  well as to the myriad of individuals who make this

          7  partnership work every day for the good of the

          8  people of this City.

          9                 It is my privilege to be a part of

         10  the ongoing important work of restoring and

         11  maintaining Central Park.

         12                 And I would like to add that I agree,

         13  you know, I think that the success of the

         14  Conservancy over the years has lent -- people will

         15  be more agreeable to support organizations like the

         16  City Parks Foundation when they saw the success of

         17  the Conservancy and the work that it's done over the

         18  years.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         21                 Do any of my colleagues have

         22  questions?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I want to

         24  thank Ed Benson, because the Conservancy, I don't

         25  think you mentioned this, also does a lot of work
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          2  helping other parks with technical assistance, not

          3  charging them. But I know many, many examples where

          4  between clean-up, technical assistance, and just

          5  general support, Central Park Conservancy has been

          6  there with shovels, staff power, and just basic

          7  health. So, I thank him.

          8                 MR. BENSON: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         10                 Our next panel will consist of Carla

         11  McIntosh, Marcus Garvey Park Alliance; Frederick

         12  Kress, Queens Coalition for Parks and Green Spaces;

         13  and Kathryn Speller, Half Nelson Park.

         14                 A point of privilege, Carla. We went

         15  to Knightengale together and I saw your mother. It's

         16  good to see you, that's nice. I just said to Tom, I

         17  think we went to elementary school together.

         18                 Ms. Speller, it's always good to see

         19  you.

         20                 MS. McINTOSH: Good afternoon,

         21  Chairman Foster. Good afternoon, Committee members,

         22  and I'm gratified to know that I'm still

         23  recognizable.

         24                 My name is Carla McIntosh, and I'm

         25  here representing the Marcus Garvey Park Alliance.
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          2                 The Marcus Garvey Park Alliance was

          3  organized in 1999 to attract capital funds for park

          4  improvements, to engage neighborhood stakeholders to

          5  work for the revitalization of the park, and to

          6  attract park programs that increase usership.

          7                 Since the organization of the

          8  Alliance, the group has attracted over $1 million in

          9  capital funds, organized numerous community events,

         10  such as Interfaith Holiday Celebration and Parks

         11  Clean-Up, and supported arts and cultural

         12  programming that is making the park a popular arts

         13  and cultural destination.

         14                 Three groups coalesced in 1999 to

         15  form an entity that would ultimately become the

         16  Alliance. The Mount Morris Park Community

         17  Improvement Association, and Neighborhood

         18  Preservation Organization, Community Pride,

         19  Incorporated, a program of the Harlem Children Zone

         20  and North General Hospital that has developed home

         21  ownership opportunities on Madison Avenue, across

         22  from the park, combined resources to form an

         23  advocacy group for the park that raised funds for

         24  capital improvement.

         25                 These groups raised over $20,000 to
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          2  establish the Eugene McKay Fitness Center located in

          3  the Parks Pelham Fritz Community Center Building.

          4                 In 2000, the group was fortunate to

          5  obtain the support of a Partnership for Parks

          6  catalyst coordinator, to help organize the group's

          7  efforts on behalf of the community.

          8                 With the invaluable health and

          9  preeminent skills of our catalyst coordinator,

         10  Tamara Greenfield, MGPA made sure that Marcus Garvey

         11  Park continued to be a place in the community where

         12  good things happen.

         13                 The grant expired in 2002 and the

         14  group resolved to continue. MGPA has moved forward,

         15  building on the success that it has known in the

         16  past, and increasing its organizational capacity for

         17  the future.

         18                 In spring 2003, the groups elected

         19  officers and officially assumed the name Marcus

         20  Garvey Park Alliance. We received a City Parks

         21  Foundation grant to help us through the transition

         22  from a group with its own catalyst coordinator to an

         23  independently operated organization.

         24                 Today the group continues to work on

         25  its goals, a building organizational capacity, and
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          2  continuing to attract programs that appeal to the

          3  community.

          4                 In the coming year, we expect to

          5  obtain our 501(c)(3) status to continue fund-raising

          6  and to host a number of events including the African

          7  Film Festival, a collaborative effort at the

          8  Historic Harlem Parks Coalition, Dance Harlem and

          9  the MGPA Pool Party.

         10                 We also intend to publish a calendar

         11  of summer events taking place in the park. MGPA

         12  takes its obligation to the park seriously, and

         13  considers it both a necessity and an honor to work

         14  on behalf of such a beautiful resource as Marcus

         15  Garvey Park.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         18                 MR. KRESS: Good afternoon. My name is

         19  Frederick Kress, the President of the Queens

         20  Coalition for Parks and Green Spaces.

         21                 I'm not going to read what I wrote

         22  for you, I'm just going to tell you, because I think

         23  you had some questions. I was born and raised and

         24  still living in Southeast Queens, and the reason I

         25  stayed there is because we have six beautiful parks
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          2  surrounding the area, but the main thing is, it's

          3  the help that we've received from City Parks,

          4  Partnership for Parks, and the New Yorkers for Parks

          5  that have kept the volunteers in these parks. When

          6  we need supplies, City Parks or Partnerships is

          7  there with either the funding or the materials, the

          8  bulbs, the seedlings. If we need workshop support,

          9  they come out and they run a workshop in the

         10  overlook. So, I think in terms of support, all of

         11  the volunteer groups are very lucky to have the

         12  support mechanisms that we have in place.

         13                 Now, we have volunteers that range

         14  from seven years old, and the ladies won't tell me

         15  how old they are, but they're up there when they can

         16  tell me stories about victory gardens and the World

         17  War I and World War II, I can only guess. But these

         18  are the people that are the front line. You've seen

         19  the daffodil project, where millions of bulbs have

         20  been planted since 2001 from our friends in the

         21  Netherlands.

         22                 These are the things that are done by

         23  the volunteers. These are the people that pick up

         24  the trash, and these are the people that turn the

         25  bad guys in, the people who are destroying the
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          2  parks, making a mess out of the restrooms, maybe

          3  commandeering some of the bulbs and things that

          4  we've planted.

          5                 But our people not only love the

          6  parks, they care for them, and they're there and

          7  they're going to protect the parks. And if you ever

          8  come out to a volunteer event, where you have all of

          9  these people from many diverse backgrounds,

         10  economics, young and old, different countries, it's

         11  a very good feeling. And being President, I've seen

         12  groups from as far north as Queens Bridge, Long

         13  Island City, up Yutalls Cove (phonetic), Cunningham

         14  Park, down where I am, Idlewild Park. It's

         15  phenomenal, the amount of manpower that we have in

         16  Queens, and some of them have disabilities and

         17  they're out there. There's no stopping them. So,

         18  with the manpower we have, the support we have, I

         19  see the volunteer movement only growing. But we do

         20  need some help sometimes because some of the parks

         21  that we have are being encroached upon, especially

         22  wetlands and that. Yutalls Cove in the north,

         23  Idlewild in the south.

         24                 I think we could use some help in

         25  actually determining which land is parkland, and
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          2  which land is City land and transferring over to

          3  parks, so it will be protected. We're not just

          4  looking for the next year or five years, we're

          5  looking for 20 or 50 years from now, because once a

          6  park land is lost, that's it. Reclamation is

          7  extremely expensive, as you can see what the dump

          8  that's been converted by Starrett City. We don't

          9  want that to happen we want to prevent that. And I

         10  think with the volunteer base that we have, they'll

         11  do the work, they'll come and see all the Council

         12  people on Advocacy Day, they'll write letters.

         13  They'll do whatever it takes to not only protect the

         14  park, but to ensure that the youngsters we have

         15  coming up will appreciate what we have. And we've

         16  seen a lot of the schools that want to get involved,

         17  and I love to have young help. I guess as we get a

         18  little older, sometimes we are not able to do

         19  everything that we used to do, and it's a phenomenal

         20  feeling to know of the support we have, and just the

         21  new people coming on that want to get involved.

         22                 And some parks have a lot of people

         23  that want to help and some parks are just getting

         24  going. There are people that have adopted green

         25  streets, which may be no bigger than half this room,
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          2  but they are dedicated and they will pick garbage or

          3  do whatever is necessary to make sure their little

          4  piece of green stays nice.

          5                 That's pretty much it, hands on,

          6  front line.

          7                 MS. SPELLER: Good afternoon, Madam

          8  Chair and the Council. My name is Kathryn Speller,

          9  and I reside in the Bronx. I live in the 16th

         10  district. I serve as a volunteer park warden for the

         11  Half Nelson Playground, which is located on Nelson

         12  Avenue between West 174th Street and Featherbed

         13  Lane.

         14                 The side of the basketball court was

         15  the last HPD interim site. The court was

         16  drug-infested and full of all kinds of garbage.

         17                 The children and the residents were

         18  afraid to use the court. With the help of Tyrone

         19  Brown, a young man that used the basketball court as

         20  a team, we came together and began doing major

         21  clean-up on the site with the help of several

         22  volunteers who also use the court as children.

         23                 With the help of the community board,

         24  the elected officials and the former Bronx Parks

         25  Commissioner Pastro, it became a City park, which is

                                                            80

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  listed, which is a plug for us.

          3                 We volunteer and keep the park clean

          4  on the weekends when the tournament takes place. We

          5  also take part in all Citywide events given by

          6  Partnerships for Parks.

          7                 The park has become a safe

          8  environment for the children of the community. In

          9  2002, we were granted award for a grant of $1,000,

         10  from City Parks for being one of the outstanding

         11  park volunteers.

         12                 Also, we received a grant from our

         13  Councilperson for the amount of $500 and this helps

         14  us to buy our supplies as needed for the basketball

         15  court.

         16                 By holding the annual basketball

         17  tournament, the annual team update is then in

         18  conjunction with parks and recreation where the

         19  children plant, do arts and crafts. The annual

         20  friend and family day during the summer months is

         21  gratifying to the youth of the community.

         22                 Without the support from Parks and

         23  Recreation and the Partnership for Parks, we could

         24  not achieve this goal. That is why it is important

         25  for the Council to continue to support parks and

                                                            81

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  recreation.

          3                 I'll also add, you were asking, Madam

          4  Chair, about Partnerships for Parks. I attend, I

          5  give workshops where all the volunteers in each

          6  borough, where every volunteer can attend.

          7                 This workshop has really helped us,

          8  as an organization to get ourselves together. They

          9  teach us grant writing, they teach us how to go out

         10  to the merchants and, you know, get sort of thankful

         11  when you're having your event. So, it is essential

         12  to, again, I say support parks and recreation,

         13  because without them we wouldn't have that park that

         14  we have. And I know that it's essential to have open

         15  space for the children.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. I find

         18  it funny that you're nervous. You're right when you

         19  say you're the park warden. I've seen you. Her park

         20  is in my district. And I know Ms. Mellor, or she's

         21  known me for years, so she is truly, she is truly

         22  the park warden. Because before I was even elected,

         23  I remember going by the park with my dad, and she

         24  had, all the young men were playing basketball, she

         25  stopped everything. They listened to you. So, you
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          2  are an example, I know firsthand, of what a good

          3  job, when the community comes in and takes over the

          4  park, what can happen.

          5                 So, continue the good work, and as

          6  always, you know you can call on my office and count

          7  on me.

          8                 And thank you all. Carla, it's great

          9  seeing you.

         10                 Council Member Addabbo has a

         11  question.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         13  Madam Chair.

         14                 I personally want to thank all the

         15  park volunteers throughout the City, especially

         16  those here, for the work that you do, not because

         17  you have to do, because you want to do it. And

         18  particularly I want to thank Fred and the Queens

         19  Park Coalition, because, you know, in Queens I've

         20  seen firsthand their involvement and their

         21  participation. And, again, doing it because they

         22  want to do it. So, it's good to see you here, and I

         23  thank you very much.

         24                 But ladies, as well, thank you very

         25  much for being here, and with all that you do for
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          2  our parks. Thank you.

          3                 MS. SPELLER: Okay.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. Just

          5  quickly, the three of you clearly know what you're

          6  doing and are passionate; do you kind of spread the

          7  word wherever you go to recruit people and parks and

          8  areas?

          9                 I know Marcus Garvey is large, and

         10  I'm not familiar with the parks in Queens, but like

         11  Half Nelson, the areas around there, that there are

         12  different parks that we might be able to start the

         13  same thing.

         14                 MS. SPELLER: We recruit and we talk

         15  to different people, and there is a park up from us

         16  that we've been talking with our coordinator Bob

         17  McCoons, that we would like to go up there and give,

         18  you know, give something also.

         19                 So, it's like -- it's hard sometimes,

         20  but we do recruit, we get the word out to people,

         21  and each year what happens -- I live in a poor

         22  district of what you would call single moms, and

         23  each year it's so gratifying when we give something

         24  to see that the young moms are coming on board now,

         25  and becoming volunteers? So, it's not just us any
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          2  longer, as the people who began, it's other people

          3  from the community now beginning to take interest in

          4  what's going on.

          5                 MR. KRESS: We're always looking for

          6  new blood and the best way to get people is to

          7  invite them to an event or something, or when they

          8  pass by they say, hey, what are you doing? Everyone

          9  thinks we're getting paid, and when you tell them

         10  you're not, they're like, what are you doing this

         11  for?

         12                 So, we're on a constant recruitment

         13  effort. No one gets out without at least -- we're

         14  trying to hook everybody in.

         15                 MS. McINTOSH: And the Marcus Garvey

         16  Park Alliance is also constantly seeking new

         17  members. We need more hands on deck to help us do

         18  our work.

         19                 We publish periodic newsletter and

         20  we've made particular outreach efforts with the

         21  clergy in our neighborhood, and we have gotten a lot

         22  of cooperation for our Interfaith celebration, and

         23  we intend to look at the churches and the mosques

         24  and the synagogues that I attend also, to get more

         25  volunteers.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. The

          3  next meeting of the Parks Department will be jointly

          4  with the Waterfront, and I believe it's April 26th.

          5  Thank you. This meeting is concluded.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 3:00 p.m.)
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